Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Aggression and Violent Behavior



Similarities and differences in impulsive/premeditated and reactive/ proactive bimodal classifications of aggression



Julia C. Babcock ^{a,*}, Andra L.T. Tharp ^b, Carla Sharp ^a, Whitney Heppner ^c, Matthew S. Stanford ^d

^a University of Houston, United States

^b Baylor College of Medicine, United States

^c Georgia College, United States

^d Baylor University, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 March 2013 Received in revised form 27 January 2014 Accepted 8 April 2014 Available online 18 April 2014

Keywords: Proactive reactive violence Impulsive premeditated aggression Violent subtypes

ABSTRACT

Despite broad consensus regarding the value of the impulsive/premeditated and reactive/proactive aggression classifications, confusion as a result of imprecise language and the exact nature of subtypes have threatened its utility for clinical and research purposes. In order to increase the usefulness of these subtypes in research, prevention, and treatment, the current review examines whether differences in these two subtype classifications are theoretical, semantic or empirical. Correlates of impulsive, premeditated, reactive, or proactive aggression measures were examined for consistency. Based on the different conceptual roots, we expected that each subtype pair would evidence only partial correspondence such that the classification systems may actually be capturing different constructs. The findings of a targeted and selective review suggest there is more correspondence between reactive and impulsive aggression than there is between proactive and premeditated aggression. An agenda for future research is outlined.

© 2014 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

| 1. | ntroduction | 252 | | | | |
|---|---|-----|--|--|--|--|
| | .1. Definitions | 252 | | | | |
| | 2. Historical development of bimodal aggression scales | 253 | | | | |
| 2 | Apasurement of himodal classifications | 253 | | | | |
| 2. | 1 Differences in classifications: an empirical comparison | 255 | | | | |
| 2 | Arralates and apadictors | 255 | | | | |
| з. | | 255 | | | | |
| | .1. Overlap between premeditated and proactive subtypes | 256 | | | | |
| | 3.2. Psychopathy | 256 | | | | |
| | 3.3. Impulsiveness | 256 | | | | |
| | 3.4. Psychophysiology | 256 | | | | |
| | 8.5. Non-overlap between premeditated and proactive subtypes | 256 | | | | |
| | 3.6. Overlap between impulsive and reactive subtypes | 256 | | | | |
| | 7 Social/interpersonal | 256 | | | | |
| | 28 Attantional problems | 256 | | | | |
| | 0. Enclose for the first sector of the first sector se | 250 | | | | |
| | | 250 | | | | |
| | 10. Psychopathy | 257 | | | | |
| | 3.11. Suicide | 257 | | | | |
| | 3.12. Verbal processing | 257 | | | | |
| | 3.13. Social information processing | 257 | | | | |
| 4. | Non-overlap between premeditated and proactive subtypes | 257 | | | | |
| 4.1. Areas of mixed evidence within aggressive subtype—premeditated and proactive | | | | | | |
| 411 Social (internersonal | | | | | | |
| | 412 Emotions/affact | 257 | | | | |
| | 4.1.2. Enotons/ancet | 257 | | | | |

* Corresponding author at: Dept. of Psychology, 126 Heyne Bldg,, University of Houston, Houston, TX 77204-5022, United States. Tel.: + 1 281 844 8364. *E-mail address:* jbabcock@uh.edu (J.C. Babcock).

| | | 4.1.3. Extraversion | 258 |
|------|--------|---|-----|
| | | 4.1.4. Verbal processing 2 | 258 |
| | 4.2. | Areas of mixed evidence within aggressive subtype—impulsive and reactive | 258 |
| | | 4.2.1. Delinquency | 258 |
| | | 4.2.2. Substance abuse | 258 |
| | | 4.2.3. Psychophysiological | 258 |
| 5. | Areas | amined only for impulsive/premeditated or reactive/proactive classification systems | 258 |
| | 5.1. | Delinquency | 258 |
| | 5.2. | Ayperactivity/attentional problems 2 | 259 |
| | 5.3. | Substance abuse | 259 |
| | 5.4. | Suicide | 259 |
| | 5.5. | Neurochemical | 259 |
| 6. | Discus | on | 259 |
| | 6.1. | imitations | 259 |
| | 6.2. | Recommendations for researchers | 260 |
| | 6.3. | Clinical and forensic implications | 260 |
| Refe | rences | | 260 |
| | | | |

1. Introduction

Violence and aggressive behavior result in substantial social, psychological, health, and economic consequences creating an impetus for understanding and treating aggressive individuals and preventing aggressive behavior (Gentile & Gellig, 2012; Patel & Taylor, 2012) Great variability exists in the cause and expression of aggressive acts, and multiple methods of defining aggression have been used to account for the variability. One method defines subtypes of aggression based on characteristics of the aggressive act and the aggressor's cognitive processes. Two subtypes have been identified among animals and humans (Weinshenker & Siegel, 2002): The first subtype denotes a spontaneous lack of control that occurs with little if any thought and has been called reactive, impulsive, affective, or hostile aggression. The second subtype denotes a planned violent response and has been referred to as proactive, premeditated, predatory, or instrumental aggression. Bimodal classification systems have been developed that utilize specific subtypes, the most studied of which are the impulsive/ premeditated and reactive/proactive aggression classifications.

These aggression subtypes may have significant implications for applied forensic and clinical work. For example, forensic research reveals that premeditated offenders are at greatest risk for reoffending (Antonius et al., 2013; Cornell et al., 1996) and that the typology predicts different kinds of criminal reoffenses (Walters, Frederick, & Schlauch, 2007). Clinical research suggests that tailoring treatment to distinct subtypes of violent behavior may yield more efficacious violence prevention and intervention programs (Antonius et al., 2010; Volavka & Citrome, 2008). For example, impulsively violent offenders tend to respond better to antipsychotic medications (Swanson et al., 2008) and anger management training programs (Walters et al., 2007) than do premeditated offenders (Antonius et al., 2013). Premeditated offenders, on the other hand, may benefit more from cognitive restructuring (Walters et al., 2007). Despite the potential utility of tailoring violence interventions by function of violence, prevention and treatment programs instead tend to be tailored to the target (e.g., child maltreatment, intimate partner violence) and nature (e.g., psychological, physical, sexual) of violence. This tendency may be in part a result of questions about the utility, definition, and correspondence of different aggression classifications.

Bushman and Anderson (2001) raised questions about the validity and utility of aggressive subtypes, arguing that it is "time to pull the life-support plug" (p. 278) on the bimodal classification. However, most agree that that the bimodal categories have different emotional, cognitive and behavioral antecedents and consequences (Berkowitz, 2008; Fontaine, 2006; Merk, de Castro, Koops, & Matthys, 2005) and have implications for diagnosis, prevention, and intervention (Kempes, Matthys, de Vries, & van Engeland, 2005). Implicit in this dialogue was ambiguity about the correspondence of different conceptualizations of aggressive behavior. For example, Bushman and Anderson (2001) criticized the *hostile/instrumental* dichotomy and Berkowitz (2008) countered with a discussion of *impulsive* aggression. This non-specificity is common; research either broadly defines classifications (Ramírez & Andreu, 2006) such that the multiple bimodal systems are assumed equivalent. Most reviews of bimodal classifications of violence treat these terms as if they are interchangeable, assuming that impulsive violence (Stanford et al., 2003; Tweed & Dutton, 1998) is the same as reactive (Cornell et al., 1996), hostile (Bushman & Anderson, 2001), emotional (Gottman et al., 1995), angry (Buss, 1961), affective (Meloy, 2005), or expressive (Campbell, Muncer, McManus, & Woodhouse, 1999). Premeditated violence is treated as if it is equivalent to proactive (Crick & Dodge, 1996), instrumental (Antonius et al., 2013; Bushman & Anderson, 2001; Buss, 1961) or cold-blooded (Woodworth & Porter, 2002) violence. Most researchers choose one bimodal term, focus on only one classification system, and administer only one measure to classify aggressive acts. In fact, research on reactive/proactive and impulsive/premeditated aggressors, the two most studied bimodal classifications, is almost completely separate, and few studies examine both.

It is possible that some of the disagreement over the nature and utility of aggressive classifications results from slight differences in the definition of the two subtypes and variation in fundamental underlying construct characteristics. Imprecise language around exactly what subtype is being discussed and how that subtype is defined may threaten the clarity and utility of subtypes. In order to increase the usefulness of subtypes in prevention and treatment, using impulsive/premeditated and reactive/proactive aggression as examples, the current review examines whether differences in these two subtype classifications are theoretical, semantic or empirical. While measures may have been developed with the same overarching theory in mind, the measures may actually be capturing different constructs.

1.1. Definitions

Impulsive aggression has been defined as a reactive or emotionally charged aggressive response distinguished by a loss of behavioral control (Barratt, 1991; Stanford et al., 2003). However, research on impulsive aggression often captures the construct more broadly than Barratt's original definition. Impulsive aggression is thought to be an uncontrolled, emotionally charged aggressive act that results from minimal provocation (Lake & Stanford, 2011). Impulsive aggression, like impulsiveness, is thought to have a genetic component, specifically the genes that regulate serotonin, as impulsivity and impulsive aggression are inversely related to serotonin levels (Meltzer & Arora, 1988). Similarly, reactive aggression has been defined as a defensive response to a perceived threat, fear, or provocation, and evidenced by a hostile attributional bias (Brown, Atkins, Osborne, & Milnamow, 1996; Dodge & Coie, 1987). Reactive aggression's evolutionary basis is thought to be one of selfprotection (Meloy, 2005).

On the other hand, premeditated aggression has been defined as a "planned or conscious aggressive act, not spontaneous or related to an agitated state" (Stanford et al., 2003, p. 183). It is not preceded by autonomic arousal and is characterized by the absence of emotion and threat (Meloy, 2005). Proactive aggression refers to aggression which contains both hostile and goal-directed components (Dodge & Coie, 1987). Proactive aggression is manipulative, callous and is often "instrumental", in that used in pursuit of attaining a goal (Antonius et al., 2013). Its evolutionary basis is thought to be hunting for food (Meloy, 2005).

On the basis of these original definitions, impulsive and reactive on the one hand, and premeditated and proactive aggression on the other, one may suggest that any differences are just 'splitting hairs.' However, inspection of the wording of items in the respective scales tapping into these constructs, reveal slight differences in definition which suggest they may be capturing different aspects of the aggressive act. Impulsive/premeditated aggression emphasizes what happens in the moment of the aggressive act or the "aggressive state", whereas reactive/proactive aggression also includes characteristics or "aggressive traits" of the individual, such as hostile attributional biases. Based on these issues of face validity, a more thorough evaluation of the historical development of the constructs as well as differential or overlapping correlates is warranted.

1.2. Historical development of bimodal aggression scales

Understanding components and types of aggression has been a longstanding endeavor of psychological research. Considering the function of aggression, some theorists focused on the factors "pushing" the individual to retaliate when provoked (Berkowitz, 1963), while others focused on aggression, coercion, dominance, and bullying that is "pulled" by the expectation of positive outcomes (Bandura, 1973; Olweus, 1978). Dodge and Coie (1987) tried to reconcile these two functions of aggression, incorporating social/personality (Buss, 1966; Feshbach, 1964, 1970) and ethology research (Moyer, 1976; Scott, 1972). Dodge and Coie (1987) developed teacher-rating instruments to distinguish between reactive (push) vs. proactive (pull) aggression of children in the classroom. More recently, peer ratings (Hubbard, Dodge, Cillessen, Coie, & Schwartz, 2001; Marsee & Frick, 2007) and self-report instruments (Raine et al., 2006) have spawned new research on children's proactive and reactive aggression beyond the confines of the classroom.

Simultaneously, research on impulsive vs. premeditated aggression focused on adults in institutional settings. Citing the work of Buss (1961) and Berkowitz (1988), early attempts to delineate impulsive vs. premeditated aggression were applied to prisoners (Heilbrun, Heilbrun, & Heilbrun, 1978; Linnoila et al., 1983). While early research informally coded impulsive and non-impulsive crimes based on criminal records (Heilbrun et al., 1978; Linnoila et al., 1983), more formal assessment of impulsive/premeditated aggression constructs began with Barratt, Kent, Bryant, & Felthous (1991), Barratt, Stanford, Felthous, et al. (1997). Barratt, an impulsiveness researcher, became interested in impulsive aggression as an extension of his personality research with adults. Citing Buss and Plomin (1975) and other personality theorists (Cone, 1978; Eichelman & Hartwig, 1990), Barratt originally delineated three types of aggression: impulsive, premeditated and medically related aggression. Later, medically related aggression, aggression caused by head injuries, for example, was seen as a confound to be controlled for in studies of impulsive vs. premeditated aggression (Barratt, Stanford, Dowdy, Liebman, & Kent, 1999). In developing the first self-report measure of impulsive/premeditated aggression—the Aggressive Acts Questionnaire—Barratt et al. (1999) mentioned that Dodge and Coie (1987) had "verified the independence of two similar types of aggression" among non-clinical samples of children (p. 165).

From the beginning, Barratt's research was clinical and applied in nature, setting out to understand and differentiate aggression in forensic settings and psychiatric wards (Barratt, 1991). Legally, it is important to understand an aggressor's mens rea, or mental state at the time of the crime, to establish guilt. It was probably no coincidence that Barratt used a legal term, premeditated, and that his conceptualization addressed state rather than trait aggression, or mental state during the aggressive act. It was also no coincidence that Barratt used the term impulsive aggression, as impulsive aggression is a direct extension of his personality research and is the primary interest among psychiatrists and researchers working on inpatient wards. Many psychiatrists and researchers today still focus primarily on impulsive aggression to the exclusion of its premeditated counterpart (e.g., Coccaro & Kavoussi, 1997), although both impulsive and premeditated aggression have been documented in psychiatric wards (Barratt et al., 1999; Frijda, 2010; Nolan et al., 2003). With the advent of an empirically-sound questionnaire, the Impulsive/ Premeditated Aggression Scales (IPAS; Stanford et al., 2003) to classify aggressive acts, research on impulsive and premeditated aggression has extended beyond institutional settings, to adults in outpatient, community, and college settings.

Considering some shared early references on which both typologies were based, one may argue that there are only semantic differences between the impulsive/premeditated and the proactive/reactive distinctions. However, Barratt's impulsive/premeditated typology was founded on personality theory whereas Dodge and Coie's proactive/reactive distinction appears to have more firmly rooted in the psychology of aggression. Moreover, Barratt's impulsive/premeditated appears to be more applied in nature, designed from the beginning to find ways to decrease aggression in prisons and hospitals. Regardless of historical underpinnings, both typologies have generated different lines of research on different samples in different settings and have generated different sets of measurement tools. While generated from some shared ideas, these two lines of research may have evolved over time such that, in practice, they assess subtly different forms of aggressive behavior.

2. Measurement of bimodal classifications

The commonly used instruments to measure each subtype reflect the original definitions of the subtypes as well as the age groups with which they primarily have been examined—impulsive/premeditated with adults and reactive/proactive with children and adolescents. Because the expression of aggressive behavior (McKay & Halperin, 2001) and the valid measurement of aggression (Little, Brauner, Jones, Nock, & Hawley, 2003) changes across the lifespan, different methods (e.g., self-reports, interviews, observations) have been used to measure aggression with each age and classification system.

Assessment of impulsive vs. premeditated aggression began with single item ratings based on police records of criminal assaults (Heilbrun et al., 1978). More comprehensive file audit ratings were later developed to classify institutionalized persons' aggression as either impulsive or premeditated aggression (Felthous et al., 2009; Frijda, 2010; Nolan et al., 2003). Some scales, typically applied to psychiatric patients, capture impulsive aggression only, for example the six-item Impulsive Aggression Scale (Edwards, Scott, Yarvis, Paizis, & Panizzon, 2003). Barratt and colleagues also developed semi-structured interviews with individuals to typify aggressive acts as premeditated or impulsive (Barratt, Stanford, Felthous, et al., 1997; Barratt, Stanford, Kent, et al., 1997). More recently, impulsive and premeditated aggressive subtypes are being assessed using self-report instruments. The original Aggressive Acts Questionnaire (Barratt et al., 1999) has been supplanted by the most commonly used self-report tool, the Impulsive Premeditated Aggression Table 1

| Instrument | Source article | Cronbach's alpha | # Items | Comments | | | | | |
|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Impulsive/premeditated | | | | | | | | | |
| Impulsive Aggression Scale Aggressive Acts Questionnaire (AAQ) | Edwards et al. (2003) Barratt et al. (1999) | Factor 1 Impulsive 0.75; Factor 3 Premeditated 0.48; | 6 22 | Impulsive aggression only Based on semi-structured interviews (Barratt, Stanford, Felthous, et al., 1997; Barratt, Stanford, Kent, et al., 1997) to classify aggressive acts as impulsive or premeditated. | | | | | |
| Aggressive Acts Records Review | Stanford and Barrett (2001) | N/A | 17 | Yes/no items | | | | | |
| Impulsive/Premeditated Aggression Scales (IPAS) | Stanford et al. (2003) | Impulsive 0 .77 Premeditated 0.82 | 30 | 2 Methods of scoring | | | | | |
| Aggressive Acts Interview | Barratt, Stanford, Felthous, et al. (1997); Barratt, Stanford, Kent, et al. (1997) | N/A | 11 | Semi-structured interview not re- stricted to 11prompting questions | | | | | |
| Impulsivity Rating Scale Incident Report Coding | Heilbrun et al. (1978) Frijda (2010); Nolan et al. (2003) | N/A No alphas reported | 1 | Interrater agreement r = .94 Aggressive incidents coded as predatory or impulsive | | | | | |
| Reactive/Proactive | | | | | | | | | |
| Reactive–Proactive Questionnaire (RPQ) | Raine et al. (2006) | Reactive—.84 Proactive—.86 | 23 | | | | | | |
| Teacher Rating Instrument | Dodge and Coie (1987) | Reactive—.90 Proactive—.91 | 12 | | | | | | |
| Peer Rating Instrument | Hubbard et al. (2001) | 0.73 | 6 | | | | | | |
| Peer Conflict Scale | Marsee and Frick (2007) | Overt—.90 REA-O—.87 PRO-O—.82 Relational—.87 REA-R—.80 PRO-R—.76. | 40 | Four 10 item subscales | | | | | |
| Behavioral Observations | Price and Dodge (1989) | Kappa reactive aggression—.84 Kappa instrumental aggression—.96 | 6 aggression variables 5 play activity variables | | | | | | |
| Revised Teacher Rating Scale for Reactive and Proactive Aggression | Brown et al. (1996) | PRO94 REA92 | 28 | | | | | | |
| Coding Scheme for Partner Violent Men | Chase et al. (2001) | N/A | 3 | Coding of semistructured interview | | | | | |
| Psychological Inventory of Criminal Thinking Styles (PICTS) Proactive and Reactive Composite Scales | Walters (2006); Walters et al. (2007) | Proactive—.8083 Reactive—.8991 | 80 | 3 Weighted and summed subscales comprise each subtype | | | | | |

Scale (IPAS; Stanford et al., 2003). Although it is a relatively new scale, the IPAS has been widely used (cited in over 130 citations according to a recent Web of Science search) and has breathed new life into research on impulsive vs. premeditated aggression.

Simultaneously, the measurement of reactive and proactive aggression has evolved, beginning with observational measurement of children administered by teachers, parents or peers (e.g., Dodge & Coie, 1987; Hubbard et al., 2001) to self-report measures. Two frequently used self-report questionnaires are the Reactive Proactive Questionnaire (RPQ; Raine et al., 2006) and the Peer Conflict Scale (PCS; Marsee & Frick, 2007). The most frequently used instruments of both bimodal classifications and their psychometric qualities are presented in Table 1.

The two self-report instruments used most frequently for each subtype (IPAS and RPQ) differ in their instructions, item content and scoring, which may have an influence in how the subtypes are captured. Differences in instructions could affect severity of aggression being reported. For example, the IPAS uses a screening question, so that only individuals who have perpetrated physical or verbal aggression (striking, verbally insulting another person, or breaking or throwing objects out of anger or frustration) in the past 6 months complete the scale. On the other hand, the RPQ is completed by all participants whether they have been recently aggressive or not. High scores are based on frequency of acting out in anger. Items on the IPAS reflect mood at the time of the aggressive act (e.g., "I was confused during the acts:" "I was in a bad mood the day of the incident") whereas no consideration of mood other than anger is reflected in the RPQ items. Similarly, the IPAS asks the participant to reflect back and judge oneself, e.g., "My behavior was too extreme for the level of provocation" and "I feel I acted out aggressively more than the average person did over the last six months" whereas the RPQ is more behaviorally-specific and less mentalistic. Premeditated aggression as measured by the IPAS includes items assessing planning and revenge where proactive aggression does not. Proactive aggression as measured by the RPQ includes items about the use of violence to "win a game" or "to be cool"-items related to social connectedness that are not reflected in the premeditated aggression scales

An often ignored problem is the high correlation between the two types of aggression. For example, correlations between PRO and RA range from .60 to .80 (Dodge & Coie, 1987; Miller & Lynam, 2006; Polman, Orobio de Castro, Koops, van Boxtel, & Merk, 2007) and between PM and IA range from -0.02 to 0.51) and researchers may correct for this overlap in different ways. For example, the RPQ scale developers recommend creating standardized residuals of each subscale; the IPAS authors suggest using raw factor subscales (Stanford, unpublished manual). Miller and Lynam (2006) suggest that, even though residualized RA and PRO scores were more strongly correlated to the variables of interest than were raw scores, residualizing is problematic, as "partialled variables are abstractions, existing only in the statistical ether" (Miller & Lynam, 2006, p. 1472). Differences in how researchers handle construct overlap, i.e. raw vs. standardized residual, may affect the associations between aggressive subtypes and their predictors or correlates across studies.

2.1. Differences in classifications: an empirical comparison

Although similarities exist between reactive/proactive and impulsive/ premeditated subtypes, it becomes clear they have slightly different definitions, capture different aspects of the aggressive act, have been examined in different developmental phases, and are measured by different instruments. In light of these differences, our past work used a quantitative approach to examine correspondence of the subtypes (Teten Tharp et al., 2011). A sample of young adults completed the Impulsive Premeditated Aggression Scale (IPAS), the Reactive Proactive Questionnaire (RPQ), and other aggression instruments to establish convergent and discriminant validity of the subtypes. Only 38% of participants were classified similarly on the IPAS and RPQ (e.g., reactive classified as impulsive; proactive classified as premeditated). When cluster analyses were used to detect naturally occurring groups in the data, not two but six categories were identified. The groups suggested the subtypes complemented but did not correspond to each other. Similar results were also found in a comparison of the IPAS and RPQ in a Dutch sample (Kuyck, de Beurs, Barendregt, & van den Brink, 2014). To further explore the correspondence of impulsive/premeditated and reactive/ proactive classifications, in the current paper we broadly reviewed existing empirical research to identify areas in which the correlates and predictors of reactive and impulsive or proactive and premeditated subtypes overlap and do not overlap.

The correspondence or non-correspondence of aggressive classifications has implications for the etiology, prevention, and treatment of aggressive behavior. Non-correspondence would suggest that unique etiologies exist for impulsive and reactive aggression, for example. Different etiologies may require different prevention strategies, and treatments effective for impulsive aggression may be less effective or ineffective for reactive aggression. Correspondence would allow for findings from one classification to be generalized to other classifications. By establishing parallels between reactive and impulsive aggression, developmental trajectories and the salient risk and protective factors across time could be examined. Partial correspondence would suggest that new models of aggression may be needed that can account for the shared and unique characteristics of the classification systems. Based on our quantitative research, we expected that our review would identify partial correspondence and provide information about construct differences based on the pattern of correspondence and non-correspondence.

3. Correlates and predictors

The aim of the current review was to determine whether the same constructs are implied in both classification approaches by investigating concurrent and divergent validity of the constructs. We examined correlates and predictors of subtypes across studies to investigate whether there is correspondence, partial correspondence or non-correspondence between the classification systems. As mentioned above, we expected partial correspondence, such that the nature or domain of the correlates that have been examined for each subtypes will vary and will reflect the theoretical underpinnings of each system, the disciplines that utilize each system will vary and the developmental phase in which system has been predominantly examined will vary. Based on our quantitative work, we expected each subtype pair would evidence some correspondence and some non-correspondence, such that the classification systems will complement rather than correspond to each other. Given the moderate correlation found between aggressive classifications, which could suggest some shared method variance or some true variance, some correlates will be common to impulsive-reactive and premeditatedproactive constructs.

Therefore, we searched for articles that examined correlates or predictors of impulsive, premeditated, reactive, or proactive aggression. Although the terms have been used in ways that do not conform to the original definitions, we were concerned with examining potential construct similarities and differences of the bimodal classifications, so in the current review we restricted our search to studies that used Barratt's (1991) conceptualization of impulsive/premeditated and Dodge's (Dodge & Coie, 1987) definition of reactive/proactive aggression. We conducted searches of these keywords in indexes, reviewed abstracts, selected those that used our definitions and examined correlates or predictors of the subtypes. Our goal in the literature review compile representative research that has been conducted in the area, including correlates of proactive/reactive and impulsive/premeditated aggression that have been examined in more than one study Based on these searches we identified several key areas of overlap and nonoverlap, in addition to some domains for which one classification has been studied and the other has not.

3.1. Overlap between premeditated and proactive subtypes

Several areas of overlap between Premeditated (PM) and Proactive (PRO) aggression across several correlates were identified. These areas include psychopathy, impulsivity, and psychophysiology. Each area is reviewed in the sections below.

3.2. Psychopathy

Theoretically, psychopathic individuals should be able to use proactive and premeditated aggression without much emotional arousal or remorse (Cornell et al., 1996). Empirically, both PM and PRO have been previously linked to psychopathic traits. PRO aggression has been associated with mothers' ratings of psychopathic personality (Lynam, 1997; Raine et al., 2006) and with higher levels of narcissism in children and adolescents (Seah & Ang, 2008Partner violent men coded as PRO were significantly more likely to meet criteria for psychopathy and antisocial personality based on MCMI-II (Millon, 1987) cutoff scores (Chase, O'Leary, & Heyman, 2001). Similarly, partner violent men diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder were more likely to use violence against their partners proactively as compared to partner violent men who were not (Ross & Babcock, 2009). Additionally, PRO has been associated with the callous/unemotional traits and antisocial personality problems in early adulthood (Fite, Raine, Stouthamer-Loeber, Loeber, & Paridni, 2010). In adults, PM aggression has also been linked to psychopathy, however usually when the construct was operationalized in terms of the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R). PM has been correlated with interpersonal affective traits of psychopathy on the PCL-R studies (as cited in Kockler, Stanford, Nelson, Meloy, & Sanford, 2006) but sometimes only weakly (McDermott, Quanbeck, Busse, Yastro, & Scott, 2008). However, there appears to be a gender difference in how psychopathy relates to proactive aggression. Psychopathic traits as measured by the Psychopathic Personality Inventory (PPI; Lilienfeld & Andrews, 1996) did differ between premeditated or impulsive domestically violent men (Stanford, Houston, & Baldridge, 2008) but not women (Lake & Stanford, 2011). Similarly, manipulative and egocentric features of psychopathy were related to proactive physical aggression among men but to reactive, indirect aggression among women in an experimental task (Bobadilla, Wampler, & Taylor, 2012).

3.3. Impulsiveness

Impulsiveness, as measured by the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS 11; Patton, Stanford, & Barratt, 1995), is another area of overlap between PRO and PM aggression. PRO aggression was significantly associated with impulsivity in young adults (Bailey & Ostrov, 2008) and children (Connor et al., 2004), while PM aggression was correlated with impulsiveness across several adolescent and adult studies (Dougherty et al., 2007; Mathias et al., 2007; McDermott et al., 2008; Stanford et al., 2003).

3.4. Psychophysiology

PM and PRO aggression also demonstrated overlap in terms of physiological responses. PRO aggression has been significantly associated with decreased heart rate in children and adolescents (Kempes et al., 2005) while previous literature linked PM aggression and somatic complaints in adolescents (Mathias et al., 2007), decreased physiological arousal in adults (Kockler et al., 2006) and increased total cholesterol in men (Conklin & Stanford, 2008). Cardiovascular reactivity was differentially related to proactive and reactive partner violence among women: blunted cardiac reactivity was associated with proactive aggression and exaggerated cardiac reactivity was associated with reactive aggression, but only for those women who reported a history of sexual abuse (Murray-Close & Rellini, 2012). One study concluded that low SCR in response to conditioned punishment was the most important predictor of proactive aggression, (Bobadilla et al., 2012), at least among men.

3.5. Non-overlap between premeditated and proactive subtypes

For all variables we examined either mixed results within a classification or gaps in the literature do not allow for comparison. For example, PRO is related to expectations of more positive emotional and material outcomes resulting from aggression among teens (Arsenio, Adams, & Gold, 2009). There appears to be no research to date expected outcomes as it relates to PM aggression.

3.6. Overlap between impulsive and reactive subtypes

Several areas of overlap between the impulsive aggression (IA) and reactive aggression (REA) subtypes were identified, including social/interpersonal, attentional problems, emotions/affect, psychopathy, suicide, verbal processing, and social information processing. Each area of overlap is reviewed below.

3.7. Social/interpersonal

Both categorizations of aggression are characterized by poor social adjustment. In children and adolescents, REA aggression was found to be related to social maladjustment and low self-perceived social competence (Polman et al., 2007; Seah & Ang, 2008), feelings of social anxiety and a lack of close friends (Raine et al., 2006), peer victimization and poor prosocial behavior (Card & Little, 2006; McAuliffe, Hubbard, Rubin, Morrow, & Dearing, 2006; Vitaro, Barker, Boivin, Brendgen, & Tremblay, 2006), and rejection by peers (Kempes et al., 2005; Vitiello & Stoff, 1997). IA aggression was also linked to poor social outcomes in adolescents and adults (Helfritz & Stanford, 2006; Mathias et al., 2007). Reactively aggressive children have been found to be more at risk for committing relationship violence as teens (Brendgen, Vitaro, Tremblay, & Lavoie, 2001).

3.8. Attentional problems

IA and REA aggression were both also associated with attention problems. REA was associated with poor attention (Card & Little, 2006; Dodge & Coie, 1987) and more ADHD symptoms in children (Scarpa, Tanaka, & Chiara Haden, 2008; Schippell, Vasey, Cravens-Brown, & Bretveld, 2003). Also in children and adolescents, IA was associated with ADHD (Jensen et al., 2007), with attentional problems (Mathias et al., 2007) and with time estimation problems (Dougherty et al., 2007). Even with medication, nearly half of children diagnosed with ADHD continue to manifest IA (MTA Cooperative Group, 1999). In addition, Connor, Steingard, Anderson, and Melloni (2003) suggest an especially strong link between REA and ADHD and conduct disorder among males.

3.9. Emotions/affect

Both REA and IA have been associated with poor emotional outcomes across several studies. REA has been linked to emotional dysregulation in children and adolescents (Card & Little, 2006; Marsee & Frick, 2007; Vitaro, Brendgen, & Tremblay, 2002; Vitiello & Stoff, 1997), and in adults (Conner, Tanaka, & Haden, 2008). Additionally, REA was associated with negative emotionality, including depressive symptoms in children (McAuliffe et al., 2006) and anxiety in adulthood (Fite et al., 2010) and in children and adolescents (Marsee, Weems, & Taylor, 2008). REA is associated with both internalizing and externalizing disorders among children (White, Jarrett, & Ollendick, 2012). REA has also been linked to anger in response to perceived provocation in children and adolescents (Marsee & Frick, 2007; McAuliffe et al., 2006; Xu, Farver, & Zhang, 2009). REA in children is also linked to rejection sensitivity (Jacobs & Harper, 2012). In observations of adult couples' interactions, partner violent men coded as being REA displayed more anger as compared to those coded as PRO (Chase et al., 2001). Generally speaking, REA was related to neuroticism (anxiety, anger, depression, self-consciousness, vulnerability, impulsivity) in adults (Miller & Lynam, 2006). IA was associated with poor emotion regulation in similar ways. IA has been linked to expression of anger in adults (Helfritz & Stanford, 2006; Stanford et al., 2003; Villemarette-Pittman, Stanford, & Greve, 2003), to bipolar disorder and depression in children and adolescents (Jensen et al., 2007; Mathias et al., 2007) and adults (Seo, Patrick, & Kennealy, 2008), as well as a marked inability to regulate affect in adults (Seo et al., 2008). Deficits in self-regulation and metacognitive skills may be the mechanisms through which such adjustment problems come about (White et al., 2012).

3.10. Psychopathy

IA has been associated with psychopathy and antisocial personalities in several studies (Helfritz & Stanford, 2006; McGirr, Paris, Lesage, Renaud, & Turecki, 2007; Swogger, Walsh, Houston, Cashman-Brown, & Conner, 2010). First, among adult criminal offenders, IA was associated with the impulsive-antisocial traits of psychopathy, however this relationship only held true for individuals with moderate to high levels of generalized anxiety (Swogger et al., 2010). Similarly, one study that found a relationship with REA aggression where adolescents who scored higher in psychopathy also exhibited higher frequencies of REA aggression than adolescents with lower levels of psychopathy (Stafford & Cornell, 2003).

3.11. Suicide

Associations between aggression and suicide are similar for IA and REA classifications. REA aggression during late adolescence has been associated with completed suicide by the age of 36 (Angst & Clayton, 1998; Fite, Stoppelbein, Greening, & Gaertner, 2009) and with both suicide attempts and suicidal ideations in adults (Conner et al., 2008). Similarly, IA aggression has predicted a greater number of suicide attempts (Soloff, Lynch, Kelly, Malone, & Mann, 2000), has been associated with suicide occurring among younger individuals (McGirr et al., 2007), and has predicted more violent methods of suicide when higher lifetime IA aggressive behaviors are present (Dumais et al., 2005). Finally, the familial transmission of suicidal behavior was found to be more likely if offspring demonstrated increased levels of IA (Brent et al., 2002).

3.12. Verbal processing

The interplay between verbal processing and REA have not been examined in many studies. However, REA aggression was uniquely related to lower verbal abilities in one investigation (Arsenio et al., 2009). IA has also been linked to poor verbal outcomes including general verbal impairment in adolescents and adults (Kockler et al., 2006; Stanford, Greve, & Gerstle, 1997), lower WASI verbal scores in adolescents (Dougherty et al., 2007), and alexithymia in veterans (Teten, Miller, Bailey, Dunn, & Kent, 2008).

3.13. Social information processing

Aggression in social situations involves situational cues that trigger attributions and scripts for how to react (Huesmann & Reynolds, 2001). REA and IA have been linked to attributional biases, although much more work has been conducted in this area for REA than for IA. Crick and Dodge (1996) demonstrated that children high in REA attributed hostile intent to peers' ambiguous social actions more frequently than their non-aggressive peers. Other studies and reviews confirm the link between REA and hostile attribution biases in children (Connor et al., 2003; Hubbard et al., 2001; Muñoz, Frick, Kimonis, & Aucoin, 2008; Schippell et al., 2003) and emerging adults (Bailey & Ostrov, 2008). Along these lines, as reviewed above, both REA and IA are also linked to attentional problems or deficits; Giancola, Martin, Tarter, Pelham, and Moss (1996) suggest that impaired attentional skills may be one deficit that underlies hostile attribution biases. Reactive aggression is related to expected ease in enacting aggression, lower verbal abilities, and hostile attributional biases, may be mediated by teens' attention problems (Arsenio et al., 2009). For IA, direct evidence linking IA to hostile attribution bias was not found. However, hostile attribution biases were more predictive of aggressive behavior for adolescents high in IA (Fite, Goodnight, Bates, Dodge, & Pettit, 2008). Similar to Giancola et al. (1996), researchers have suggested that executive dysfunction (Villemarette-Pittman et al., 2003) and an inability to process unique social cues (Fite et al., 2008) may lead to hostile attributional biases in individuals high in IA.

4. Non-overlap between premeditated and proactive subtypes

Despite some overlap, non-overlap emerged in the area of substance abuse and is reviewed below.

4.1. Areas of mixed evidence within aggressive subtype—premeditated and proactive

4.1.1. Social/interpersonal

Social/interpersonal outcomes are another area in which mixed effects occurred for premeditated (PM) and proactive (PRO) aggression. In children and adolescents, PRO has been associated with having high self-perceived social competence (Polman et al., 2007), being viewed less negatively by peers, at least at younger ages (Kempes et al., 2005; Polman et al., 2007; Vitiello & Stoff, 1997), and possessing leadership skills and humor (Dodge & Coie, 1987; Kempes et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2009). Researchers found no relations between PRO and prosocial behavior (Card & Little, 2006), social skills (McAuliffe et al., 2006) or peer rejection (Xu et al., 2009). PRO is negatively related to social problems (Fite et al., 2009). However, some studies do find PRO with poor social outcomes. PRO at age seven was characterized by poor peer relationships (Raine et al., 2006), was associated with antisocial behavior and peer rejection (Vitiello & Stoff, 1997) in adolescence (Fite & Colder, 2007). Moreover, PRO children are less likely to endorse relationship-enhancing goals during social interactions, choosing instead instrumental and self-serving goals (Crick & Dodge, 1996). However, the bulk of the findings suggest no or positive relations between PRO and social functioning. On the other hand, PM aggression is consistently associated with negative social outcomes, specifically with social consequences and anti-social behavior in adults and adolescents (Gauthier, Furr, Mathias, Marsh-Richard, & Dougherty, 2009; Kockler et al., 2006; Stanford et al., 2003).

4.1.2. Emotions/affect

There have been mixed findings for PM and PRO in terms of their relationships with emotional states and traits. In children and adolescents, PRO aggression has been significantly associated with blunted affect (Raine et al., 2006), depressive symptoms (McAuliffe et al., 2006; Scarpa et al., 2008), reduced emotional reactivity (Marsee & Frick, 2007), and low autonomic arousal and lack of emotional awareness (Conner, Swogger, & Houston, 2009). This dulled affect may prove to be protective in certain instances, as PRO was found to be significantly associated with adults' ability to control anger (Ramírez & Andreu, 2006) and children having fewer internalizing problems (Marsee & Frick, 2007). More often, however, this reduced emotional reactivity may be indicative of a lack of concern over the distress of others. One study demonstrated that PRO aggression was uniquely associated with callous-unemotional traits and positively biased outcome expectations for aggression in children and adolescents (Marsee & Frick, 2007). In observing couples interactions, partner violent men coded as being PRO displayed more dominance than REA violent men (Chase et al., 2001). However, at least one study found no significant association between PRO and emotional dysregulation (Card & Little, 2006) and no relationship with anger expression (McAuliffe et al., 2006). However, at least one study found that children with internalizing disorders had higher ratings of PRO (Scarpa et al., 2008).

PM has been linked to a similar control of emotional states in some studies, including better control of anger (Ramírez & Andreu, 2006) and with cold, unemotional features of psychopathy in adults (Kockler et al., 2006; McDermott et al., 2008; Swogger et al., 2010). Conversely, other studies have linked PM with anger and verbal aggression in adults and adolescents (Mathias et al., 2007; Stanford et al., 2003). While impulsive and reactive aggression are consistently correlated with depression, there appears to be no consistent pattern with PRO and PM as it relates to emotionality.

4.1.3. Extraversion

Extraversion is another area with mixed results as it correlates to PM and PRO. Although PRO has not been linked to extraversion directly, significant interactions were found between psychoticism and extraversion in the prediction of PRO, such that extraversion may play a protective role when high levels of psychoticism are present in children (Schippell et al., 2003). On the other hand, PM has mixed relationships with extraversion, including both positive associations (Gauthier et al., 2009; Stanford et al., 2003) and inverse associations (Mathias et al., 2007) in adults and adolescents.

4.1.4. Verbal processing

In terms of verbal processing, PRO has been uniquely related to higher verbal abilities (Arsenio et al., 2009), but also to lower verbal IQ (Connor et al., 2003), while PM aggression has been linked to lower WASI verbal scores among adolescents with conduct disorder compared to controls (Dougherty et al., 2007).

4.2. Areas of mixed evidence within aggressive subtype—impulsive and reactive

4.2.1. Delinquency

Evidence appears mixed when comparing relationships to delinguency among REA and IA. To our knowledge, only one study demonstrated a direct relationship between REA aggression and delinguency, where REA was associated with increases in peer delinquency (Fite & Colder, 2007). A larger literature, however, found either non-significant or indirect relationships between REA aggression and delinquency. For example, Fite et al. (2008) found no association between REA aggression and overall levels of delinguency from 5th to 9th grade. Similarly, a review by Kempes et al. (2005) suggests that REA is not related to delinquency in children and adolescents. Other studies suggest indirect relationships between REA and delinquency. REA was associated with high levels of peer rejection, which in turn, were associated with peer delinquency (Fite & Colder, 2007). Similarly, juvenile delinquents demonstrated higher levels of REA aggression than higher educated peers but not lower educated peers (Nas, de Castro, & Koops, 2005). Here, it seems that mediating or moderating factors, such as peer rejection or level of education must be present for the association between REA aggression and delinquency to emerge. On the other hand, IA aggression was directly associated with delinquency where higher levels of IA were related to a younger age at first arrest and engaging in criminal activities (as cited in Villemarette-Pittman et al., 2003).

4.2.2. Substance abuse

Substance abuse is another area of mixed evidence for comparison of IA and REA. For IA, substance abuse or risk for substance abuse was found to co-occur with IA among two clinical populations. Men who reported sexual aggression were more likely both to report IA and have a substance abuse diagnosis (Teten, Schumacher, Bailey, & Kent, 2009). Another study found that patients with a dual diagnosis of

conduct disorder and bipolar disorder both presented higher levels of IA at baseline (compared to individuals with conduct disorder alone), and that those with dual diagnosis were at the highest risk for substance abuse (Masi et al., 2008). Additional studies speak to the neurochemical pathways linking IA aggression and substance abuse, suggesting that substance abuse associated with IA can be understood within the context of dopamine dysregulation resulting from serotonergic deficiency (Seo et al., 2008) and that densities of serotonin uptake sites may be reduced among cocaine abusers and related to impulsive–aggressive behavioral dimensions (Patkar et al., 2003). For REA aggression, no direct relations appear between REA and substance abuse (Miller & Lynam, 2006). However, one study did find REA to be directly associated with peer rejection and delinquency, which subsequently predicts substance use (Fite & Colder, 2007).

4.2.3. Psychophysiological

Both REA and IA have been linked to physiological and psychophysiological outcomes in general, but specific outcomes do not always overlap. REA has been associated with increased heart rate (Kempes et al., 2005) and somatic complaints (Mathias et al., 2007) in children and adolescents. IA aggression has been associated with various psychophysiological outcomes across several studies. These outcomes include, lower stress immunity (Helfritz & Stanford, 2006), lower levels of cerebrospinal fluid 5-hydroxyindolacetic acid, impaired prefrontal function, lower p3 ERP amplitude (Stanford et al., 2003) diminished p3 ERP amplitudes (Kockler et al., 2006), significant prefrontal hypometabolism in medial orbital frontal cortex bilaterally (Soloff et al., 2003), lower frontal delta and theta activity on EEG, different region pattern of beta activation (Houston & Stanford, 2005), higher shock tolerance, and attenuated hormonal response to an acute dose of paroxetine (Berman, McCloskey, Fanning, Schumacher, & Coccaro, 2009).

5. Areas examined only for impulsive/premeditated or reactive/proactive classification systems

5.1. Delinquency

In reviewing the literature, to our knowledge there were no studies that established relationships between PM and delinguency, presumably due to the fact that delinguency is examined in youth samples only, while PM is largely examined in adult samples. PRO, however, has been positively associated with delinquency in juveniles in several studies and reviews (Brendgen et al., 2001; Fite et al., 2008; Kempes et al., 2005; Nas et al., 2005; Polman et al., 2007; Pulkkinen, 1996; Raine et al., 2006; Scarpa et al., 2008; Vitaro, Barker, et al., 2006). In an overview of methodological innovations in the study of aggression, Vitaro, Brendgen, and Barker (2006) highlighted that proactively aggressive children have been found to be more at risk for both concurrent and later delinguent behaviors and conduct disorders in several previous studies (Connor et al., 2003; Pulkkinen, 1996; Vitaro, Barker, et al., 2006; Vitaro et al., 2002; Vitaro, Gendreau, Tremblay, & Oligny, 1998). Moreover, one study of incarcerated juvenile delinquents found that delinquents had higher levels of PRO than non-delinquent peers (Nas et al., 2005).

In the area of PRO and delinquency, longitudinal studies reveal interesting relationships. For example, PRO aggression at younger ages was a significant predictor of future delinquency, with PRO aggression at sixth and eighth grade predictive of delinquency in seventh- and ninth-grade (Fite et al., 2008). Similarly, PRO at age 16 was uniquely characterized by delinquency at age seven (Raine et al., 2006). PRO adolescent boys had more arrests as young adults, and PRO aggression was associated with conduct problems during adolescence for both genders (Pulkkinen, 1996). Finally, one longitudinal study found that the significant relationship between PRO at age 13 and delinquency-related violence at ages 16 and 17 depended on the degree of parental involvement in this developmental period: early adolescent PRO was predictive of later delinquency-related violence among boys with low

to moderate parental monitoring but not among those with high parental monitoring (Brendgen et al., 2001). While at least one study found no significant relation between PRO aggression and delinquency (Fite & Colder, 2007), the preponderance of evidence supports a positive relation between PRO and antisocial activity.

5.2. Hyperactivity/attentional problems

PM and PRO aggression also differ in terms of hyperactivity and attentional problems. PM aggression has been linked to greater levels of ADHD among adolescents with conduct disorder, when compared to controls (Dougherty et al., 2007). There has been mixed evidence, however, regarding the nature of the relationship between PRO aggression and hyperactivity. Some studies link PRO with more hyperactivity (Raine et al., 2006; Scarpa et al., 2008; Schippell et al., 2003) or disruptive behavioral disorders, including ADHD (Connor et al., 2004), while other studies find no relationship (Card & Little, 2006; McAuliffe et al., 2006; Polman et al., 2007). In terms of conduct disorder, PRO was found to be related to disruptive classroom behavior and conduct problems in two studies (Seah & Ang, 2008b; Xu et al., 2009). No relationships emerged between PM aggression and these factors; as with delinquency, hyperactivity and attentional problems are primarily examined in youth samples, while PM is largely examined in adult samples.

5.3. Substance abuse

PRO and substance abuse are positively related (Miller & Lynam, 2006); however, little research examines on the relations between substance abuse and PM aggression, creating another area where these two categorizations of aggression differ. A family history of substance abuse has been linked to PRO (Conner, Houston, Sworts, & Meldrum, 2007; Conner et al., 2009) and proactively aggressive children have been found to be more risk for later substance abuse (Connor et al., 2003; Vitaro, Barker, et al., 2006; Vitaro, Brendgen, et al., 2006). The relations between PRO and substance abuse may be complex; one study found that PRO is only weakly associated with initiation of alcohol use and indirectly associated with risk for initiation of marijuana and tobacco use through peer delinquency (Fite et al., 2008).

5.4. Suicide

Suicide is another domain where relationships exist with PRO but not PM aggression. PRO aggression was significantly associated with both suicide attempts and suicidal ideation in adults (Conner et al., 2009). However, sex moderated the relationship with suicide attempts, such that there was a positive association between these factors among men but not women. To our knowledge, no research examined PM and suicide.

5.5. Neurochemical

Because impulsive aggression is of particular interest in inpatient settings, there has been considerable attention paid to psychotropic drugs effect on IA. Associations have been found between neurochemical responses and IA, however, to our knowledge, there is no corresponding research examining neurochemical outcomes in REA research. Dopamine hyperfunction was found to contribute to a serotonergic deficit among individuals with IA in adults (Seo et al., 2008), and treatment of IA with anti-epileptic drugs was linked to blockade of sodium channels and/or GABA related mechanisms (Stanford, Anderson, Lake, & Baldridge, 2009).

6. Discussion

While the proactive/reactive typology is often used interchangably with the impulsive/premeditated typology (e.g., Antonius et al., 2013), this review suggests that the two bimodal classifications are conceptually and empirically distinct. A broad view of the empirical overlap and non-overlap of the subtypes reveals there is more correspondence between REA and IA than there is between PRO and PM. This suggests that while reactive and impulsive aggression may be parallel, it appears that PRO and PM are not. While there is partial correspondence between PRO and PM, there are apparent differences between these two subtypes, at least as they correlate to outcomes. This non-correspondence suggests that unique etiologies may exist for proactive and premeditated aggression.

The correspondence between impulsive and reactive aggression suggest that these two subtypes may be tapping into the same underlying construct. Although few studies assess both reactive and impulsive aggression, this review suggests that findings based on reactive aggression in childhood may be generalized to impulsive aggression in adults. Variables that are found to be risk factors for reactive aggression are likely also to be risk factors for impulsive aggression are well. Treatments that are effective in reducing reactive aggression are also likely to reduce impulsive aggression. However, while IA and REA have greater correspondence than PM and PRO in terms of correlates, their correspondence remains only partial. New models of aggression that can account for the shared and unique characteristics of impulsive and proactive aggression are in order.

Pragmatically, there are differences between the two classification systems that render them not synonymous. Impulsive/premeditated aggression generally assesses state aggression in adults whereas proactive/reactive aggression assesses trait aggression in children. While this is not explicitly stated by the authors, RPQ prefaces its questions by normalizing anger and then asking participants to rate the frequency of certain responses to anger, rendering an overall trait-like behavioral measure of general aggressive tendencies. The IPAS, on the other hand, asks participants to consider a specific time frame and then agree with a statement about the nature of an angry act, yielding a state-like measure of aggressive motivation. In the former, the tendency to act in a certain way is assessed, while in the latter, the nature of an angry act is assessed (Teten Tharp et al., 2011). While one could posit that reactively aggressive children become impulsively aggressive adults, no longitudinal studies have addressed the developmental trajectories of REA as it maps onto IA. This review highlights the need for future research that addresses developmental trajectories of the two concepts.

6.1. Limitations

Gaps in the literature may account for some of the discrepancies between PRO and PM. For example, no studies to date have examined change in proactive aggression in response to psychotropic drugs, whereas this was an early application of premeditated/impulsive aggression classification (Barratt et al., 1991). Another limitation is that, while there are a variety of measures of proactive/reactive aggression commonly used, the bulk of the research reviewed here on impulsive/premeditated aggression relied exclusively on the IPAS scale. The current review includes a broad survey of multiple correlations with the two bimodal classifications. While currently the body of research base lacks the depth to conduct statistical comparison across classification, researchers may consider conducting a formal meta-analysis of specific outcome measures surveyed here.

As the goal of the current review was to examine whether differences in subtype classifications are semantic or whether the research supporting each suggests the terms are actually capturing different constructs, our conclusions are somewhat limited by the confound of overall differences in age groups used to study IA/PM and REA/PRO classifications. The age of participants typically assessed with each subtype scale creates gaps in the literature overlap, making some comparisons impossible. For example, delinquency and conduct disorder are not measured in adults, so although proactive aggression is consistently linked to these negative outcomes, we can make no statement about PM. However, with overall differences in age of participants assessed with each subtype, a developmental trajectory is suggested with regard to social problems for PRO children and PM adults. PRO children are often liked by their peers, but several processes/tendencies present in PRO children seem to set them up for social problems. However, PM in adults is consistently linked to negative social outcomes. This may suggest some developmental change in proactive and premeditated aggression or may simply reflect differences in the items. Premeditated aggression may not capture some of the dissocial leadership qualities associated with proactive aggression.

Other limitations are with the classifications themselves. While premeditated/impulsive or proactive/reactive aggression are often discussed as if they are distinct or even mutually exclusive, research reveals that there is significant overlap between the two types. For example, individuals with more general antisocial features tend to display a combination of instrumental and reactive aggression (Crowe & Blair, 2008). In community samples at least, it may be difficult to find a sample of purely proactive violent offenders, as most perpetrators who use proactive violence, use reactive violence as well (Chase et al., 2001; Kini, Banks, & Babcock, 2014). When applied to specific acts of violence, it is often difficult to label the act as either hot or cold, as much aggression appears to be "warm" (Bushman & Anderson, 2001, p. 275). Finally, although categories are easy to conceptualize, dimensional approaches may be better representations of reality.

6.2. Recommendations for researchers

Researchers attempting to classify the function of aggression should carefully choose which measure they use. If their model is concerned with aggressive states, as are many criminal justice questions, then measures assessing impulsive/premeditated aggression, such as the IPAS (Stanford et al., 2003) would be preferable. If the proposed model is concerned with aggressive traits, as are many developmental psychopathology models, then they should adopt a measure that assesses proactive/ reactive aggression, such as the PRQ (Raine et al., 2006). Consideration for age-appropriateness of the items leads to recommendations that proactive/reactive measures are administered to children and impulsive/premeditated aggression scales are administered to adults. Care should be taken to modify and validate self-report measures of proactive vs. reactive aggression, such as the PRO, to ensure that they are suitable for administration to adults. Similarly, premeditated/impulsive selfreport measures such as the IPAS may not be valid to administer to children. Even better, future studies could include both scales in longitudinal design to see continuity and change over time, as well as correspondence with risk factors. While the nature of the associations between the two typologies is being clarified in subsequent research, researchers must take caution in generalizing results beyond a specific subtype (Teten Tharp et al., 2011). The impulsive/premeditated and reactive/proactive aggression subtypes, while they came from similar lines of thinking and have been used interchangeably, have diverged in application over time so that they are not interchangeable or equivalent. Because of subtle differences in definition, measurement, theory, and target age group, the subtypes complement, rather than correspond to, each other.

6.3. Clinical and forensic implications

Violence risk predictors often neglect to examine the differential predictive validity of the two subtypes of violence (Antonius et al., 2013). Some scholars suggest that doing so would lead to better risk assessment and intervention outcomes (Antonius et al., 2013; Cawood & Corcoran, 2009). Tailoring treatment to distinct subtypes of violent behavior may yield more efficacious violence prevention and intervention programs (Antonius et al., 2010; Volavka & Citrome, 2008). We encourage researchers, clinicians and forensic evaluators to attend to the developmental discontinuities, assessment assumptions (e.g. trait vs.

state measures), and labeling of the proactive/reactive or impulsive/ premeditated aggression in their future work.

References

Angst, J., & Clayton, P. J. (1998). Personality, smoking and suicide: A prospective study. Journal of Affective Disorders, 51(1), 55–62, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(98)00156-6.

- Antonius, D., Fuchs, L., Herbert, F., Kwon, J., Fried, J. L., Burton, et al. (2010). Management of aggressive psychiatric patients: A violent attack on a resident. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 167, 253–259.
- Antonius, D., Sinclair, S. J., Shiva, A. A., Messinger, J. W., Maile, J., Siefert, C. J., & Blais, M. A. (2013). Assessing the heterogeneity of aggressive behavior traits: Exploratory and confirmatory analyses of the reactive and instrumental aggression personality assessment inventory (PAI) scales. *Violence and Victims*, 28(4), 587–601, http://dx.doi.org/10.1891/ 0886-6708.VV-D-12-00032.
- Arsenio, W. F., Adams, E., & Gold, J. (2009). Social information processing, moral reasoning, and emotion attributions: Relations with adolescents' reactive and proactive aggression. *Child Development*, 80(6), 1739–1755.
- Bailey, C. A., & Ostrov, J. M. (2008). Differentiating forms and functions of aggression in emerging adults: Associations with hostile attribution biases and normative beliefs. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 37(6), 713–722, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10964-007-9211-5.
- Bandura, A. (1973). Aggression: A social learning analysis. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Barratt, E. S. (1991). Measuring and predicting aggression within the context of a personality theory. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry*, 3, S35–S39.
- Barratt, E. S., Kent, T. A., Bryant, S. G., & Felthous, A. R. (1991). A controlled trial of phenytoin in impulsive aggression. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 11, 388–389.
- Barratt, E. S., Stanford, M. S., Dowdy, L., Liebman, M. J., & Kent, T. A. (1999). Impulsive and premeditated aggression: A factor analysis of self-reported acts. *Psychiatry Research*, 86(2), 163–173.
- Barratt, E. S., Stanford, M. S., Felthous, A. R., & Kent, T. A. (1997). The effects of phenytoin on impulsive and premeditated aggression: A controlled study. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 17, 341–349.
- Barratt, E. S., Stanford, M. S., Kent, T. A., & Felthous, A. (1997). Neuropsychological and cognitive psychophysiological substrates of impulsive aggression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 41, 1045–1061.
- Berkowitz, L. (1963). Aggression: A social psychological analysis. NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Berkowitz, L. (1988). Frustrations, appraisals, and aversively stimulated aggression. *Aggressive Behavior*, 14, 3–11.
- Berkowitz, L. (2008). On the consideration of automatic as well as controlled psychological processes in aggression. Aggressive Behavior, 34(2), 117–129, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1002/ab.20244.
- Berman, M. E., McCloskey, M. S., Fanning, J. R., Schumacher, J. A., & Coccaro, E. F. (2009). Serotonin augmentation reduces response to attack in aggressive individuals. *Psychological Science*, 20(6), 714–720, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009. 02355.x.
- Bobadilla, L., Wampler, M., & Taylor, J. (2012). Proactive and reactive aggression are associated with different physiological and personality profiles. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 31(5), 458–487.
- Brendgen, M., Vitaro, F., Tremblay, R. E., & Lavoie, F. (2001). Reactive and proactive aggression: Predictions of physical violence in different contexts and moderating effects of parental monitoring and d caregiving behavior. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 29, 293–304.
- Brent, D. A., Ellis, S., Salazar, J. O., Mann, J. J., Oquendo, M., & Birmaher, B. (2002). Familial pathways to early-onset suicide attempt: Risk for suicidal behavior in offspring of mood-disordered suicide attempters. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59(9), 801–807, http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.59.9.801.
- Brown, K., Atkins, M. S., Osborne, M. L., & Milnamow, M. (1996). A revised teacher rating scale for reactive and proactive aggression. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 24(4), 473–480, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01441569.
- Bushman, B. J., & Anderson, C. A. (2001). Is it time to pull the plug on the hostile versus instrumental aggression dichotomy? *Psychological Review*, 108, 273–279.
- Buss, A. H. (1961). The psychology of aggression. New York: Wiley.
- Buss, A. H. (1966). Instrumentality of aggression, feedback, and frustration as determinants of physical aggression. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 3, 153–162.
- Buss, A. H., & Plomin, R. (1975). A temperament theory of personality development. New York: Wiley.
- Campbell, A., Muncer, S., McManus, I. C., & Woodhouse, D. (1999). Instrumental and expressive representations of aggression: One scale or two? Aggressive Behavior, 25, 435–444.
- Card, N. A., & Little, T. D. (2006). Proactive and reactive aggression in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis of differential relations with psychosocial adjustment. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 30(5), 466–480, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1177/0165025406071904.
- Cawood, J. S., & Corcoran, M. H. (2009). Violence assessment and intervention: The practitioner's handbook. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Chase, K. A., O'Leary, K. D., & Heyman, R. E. (2001). Categorizing partner-violent men within the reactive-proactive typology model. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 69(3), 567–572.
- Coccaro, E. f., & Kavoussi, R. J. (1997). Fluoxetine and impulsive aggressive behavior in personality-disordered subjects. Archives of General Psychiatry, 54, 1081–1088.
- Cone, J. D. (1978). The Behavioral Assessment Grid (BAG): A conceptual framework and taxonomy. *Behavior Therapy*, 9, 882–888.

- Conklin, S. M., & Stanford, M. S. (2008). Premeditated aggression is associated with serum cholesterol in abstinent drug and alcohol dependent men. *Psychiatry Research*, 157(1), 283–287.
- Conner, K. R., Houston, R. J., Sworts, L. M., & Meldrum, S. (2007). Reliability of the impulsivepremeditated aggression scale (IPAS) in treated opiate-dependent individuals. *Addictive Behaviors*, 32(3), 655–659. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/i.addbeh.2006.06.026.
- Conner, K. R., Swogger, M. T., & Houston, R. J. (2009). A test of the reactive aggression-suicidal behavior hypothesis: Is there a case for proactive aggression? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 118(1), 235–240, http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0014659.
- Conner, A., Tanaka, A., & Haden, S. (2008). Biosocial bases of reactive and proactive aggression: The roles of community violence exposure and heart rate. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 36(8), 969–988, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20276.
- Connor, D. F., Steingard, R. J., Anderson, J. J., & Melloni, R. J. J. (2003). Gender differences in reactive and proactive aggression. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 33, 279–294.
- Connor, D. F., Steingard, R. J., Cunningham, J. A., Anderson, J. J., Melloni, J., & Richard, H. (2004). Proactive and reactive aggression in referred children and adolescents. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 74(2), 129–136, http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ 0002-9432.742.129.
- Cornell, D. G., Warren, J., Hawk, G., Stafford, E., Oram, G., & Pine, D. (1996). Psychopathy in instrumental and reactive violent offenders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64, 783–790.
- Crick, N. R., & Dodge, K. A. (1996). Social information-processing mechanisms in reactive and proactive aggression. *Child Development*, 67, 993–1002.
- Crowe, S. L., & Blair, R. J. R. (2008). The development of antisocial behavior: What can we learn from functional neuroimaging studies? *Development and Psychopathology*, 20(4), 1145–1159, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0954579408000540.
- Dodge, K. A., & Coie, J. D. (1987). Social-information-processing factors in reactive and proactive aggression in children's peer groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55, 1146–1158.
- Dougherty, D. M., Dew, R. E., Mathias, C. W., Marsh, D. M., Addicott, M. A., & Barratt, E. S. (2007). Impulsive and premeditated subtypes of aggression in conduct disorder: Differences in time estimation. *Aggressive Behavior*, 33(6), 574–582.
- Dumais, A., Lesage, A. D., Lalovic, A., Séguin, M., Tousignant, M., Chawky, N., & Turecki, G. (2005). Is violent method of suicide a behavioral marker of lifetime aggression? *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162(7), 1375–1378, http://dx.doi.org/10.1176/appi. ajp.162.7.1375.
- Edwards, D. W., Scott, C. L., Yarvis, R. M., Paizis, C. L., & Panizzon, M. S. (2003). Impulsiveness, impulsive aggression, personality disorder, and spousal violence. *Violence and Victims*, 18, 3–14.
- Eichelman, B., & Hartwig, A. (1990). The Caroline nosology of destructive behavior. Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 2, 288–296.
- Felthous, A., Weaver, D., Evans, R., Braik, S., Stanford, M., & Johnson, R. (2009). Assessment of impulsive aggression in patients with severe mental disorders and demonstrated violence: Inter-rater reliability of rating instrument. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 54, 1470–1474, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1556-4029.2009.01177.x.
- Feshbach, S. (1964). The function of aggression and the regulation of aggressive drive. Psychological Review, 71, 257–272.
- Feshbach, S. (1970). Aggression. In P. H. Mussen (Ed.), Carmichael's manual of child psychology, Vol. 2. (pp. 159–259). NY: Wiley.
- Fite, P. J., & Colder, C. R. (2007). Proactive and reactive aggression and peer delinquency: Implications for prevention and intervention. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 27(2), 223–240, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0272431606294838.
- Fite, J. E., Goodnight, J. A., Bates, J. E., Dodge, K. A., & Pettit, G. S. (2008). Adolescent aggression and social cognition in the context of personality: Impulsivity as a moderator of predictions from social information processing. *Aggressive Behavior*, 34(5), 511–520, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ab.20263.
- Fite, P. J., Raine, A., Stouthamer-Loeber, M., Loeber, R., & Paridni, D. A. (2010). Reactive and proactive aggression in adolescent males: Examining differential outcomes 10 years later in early adulthood. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 37(2), 141–157, http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/0093854809353051.
- Fite, P. J., Stoppelbein, L., Greening, L., & Gaertner, A. E. (2009). Further validation of a measure of proactive and reactive aggression within a clinical child population. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 40(3), 367–382, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1007/s10578-009-0132-2.
- Fontaine, R. G. (2006). Evaluative behavioral judgments and instrumental antisocial behaviors in children and adolescents. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26(8), 956–967, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.07.003.
- Frijda, N. H. (2010). Impulsive action and motivation. *Biological Psychology*, 84(3), 570–579. Gauthier, K. J., Furr, R. M., Mathias, C. W., Marsh-Richard, D. M., & Dougherty, D. M. (2009). Differentiating impulsive and premeditated aggression: Self and informant perspectives among adolescents with personality pathology. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 23(1), 76–84, http://dx.doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2009.23.1.76.
- Gentile, J. P., & Gellig, P. M. (2012). Aggression. In Gellig Gentile (Ed.), *Psychiatry of intellectual disability*. (pp. 210–249)Oxford: Wiley.
 Giancola, P. R., Martin, C. S., Tarter, R. E., Pelham, W. E., & Moss, H. B. (1996). Executive
- Giancola, P. R., Martin, C. S., Tarter, R. E., Pelham, W. E., & Moss, H. B. (1996). Executive cognitive functioning and aggressive behavior in preadolescent boys at high risk for substance abuse/dependence. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 57(4), 352.
- Gottman, J. M., Jacobson, N. S., Rushe, R. H., Shortt, J. W., Babcock, J. C., LaTaillade, J. J., & Waltz, J. (1995). The relationship between heart rate reactivity, emotionally aggressive behavior, and general violence in batterers. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 9(3), 227–248.
- Heilbrun, A. B., Heilbrun, L. C., & Heilbrun, K. L. (1978). Impulsive and premeditated homicide: An analysis of subsequent parole risk of the murderer. *The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 69, 108–114.
- Helfritz, L. E., & Stanford, M. S. (2006). Personality and psychopathology in an impulsive aggressive neurobiological correlates and clinical implications of aggressive subtypes. *Journal of Forensic Neuropsychology*, 3(4), 67–87.

- Houston, R. J., & Stanford, M. S. (2005). Electrophysiological substrates of impulsiveness: Potential effects on aggressive behavior. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 29(2), 305–313, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.11.016.
- Hubbard, J. A., Dodge, K. A., Cillessen, A. H., Coie, J. D., & Schwartz, D. (2001). The dyadic nature of social information processing in boys' reactive and proactive aggression. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(2), 268–280, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1037/0022-3514.80.2.268.
- Huesmann, L. R., & Reynolds, M. A. (2001). Cognitive processes and the development of aggression. US: American Psychological Association, 249–269, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1037/10433-012.
- Jacobs, N., & Harper, B. (2012). The effects of rejection sensitivity on reactive and proactive aggression. Aggressive Behavior, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ab.21455 (Online edition).
- Jensen, P. S., Youngstrom, E. A., Steiner, H., Findling, R. L., Meyer, R. E., & Malone, R. P. (2007). Consensus report on impulsive aggression as a symptom across diagnostic categories in child psychiatry: Implications for medication studies. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 46, 309–322.
- Kempes, M., Matthys, Wl, de Vries, H., & van Engeland, H. (2005). Reactive and proactive aggression in children: A review of theory, findings and the relevance for child and adolescent psychiatry. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 14, 11–19.
- Kini, S., Banks, J., & Babcock, J. C. (2014). The Proactive–Reactive classification of intimate partner violence offenders: A multi-method approach to classification of batterers. (Manuscript under review).
- Kockler, T. R., Stanford, M. S., Nelson, C. E., Meloy, J. R., & Sanford, K. (2006). Characterizing aggressive behavior in a forensic population. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 76, 80–85, http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.76.1.80.
- Kuyck, W. G. E., de Beurs, E., Barendregt, M., & van den Brink, W. (2014). The convergent and divergent validity of the Impulsive Premeditated Aggression Scale (IPAS) (Dutch version) compared with the Reactive Proactive aggression Questionnaire (RPQ). (Manuscript in preparation).
- Lake, S. L., & Stanford, M. S. (2011). Comparison of impulsive and premeditated female perpetrators of intimate partner violence. *Partner Abuse*, 2, 284–299.
- Lilienfeld, S. O., & Andrews, B. P. (1996). Development and preliminary validation of a self-report measure of psychopathic personality traits in noncriminal populations. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 66(3), 488–524.
- Linnoila, M., Virkkunen, M., Scheinin, M., Nuutila, A., Rimon, R., & Goodwin, F. K. (1983). Low cerebrospinal fluid 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid concentration differentiates impulsive from nonimpulsive violent behavior. *Life Sciences*, 33(26), 2609–2614, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(83)90344-2.
- Little, T. D., Brauner, J., Jones, S. M., Nock, M. K., & Hawley, P. H. (2003). Rethinking aggression: A typological examination of the functions of aggression. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 49, 343–369.
- Lynam, D. R. (1997). Childhood psychopathy: Capturing the fledgling psychopath in a nomological net. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 106, 425–443.
- Marsee, M. A., & Frick, P. J. (2007). Exploring the cognitive and emotional correlates to proactive and reactive aggression in a sample of detained girls. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35, 969–981.
- Marsee, M. A., Weems, C. F., & Taylor, L. K. (2008). Exploring the association between aggression and anxiety in youth: A look at aggressive subtypes, gender, and social cognition. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 17(1), 154–168.
- Masi, G., Milone, A., Manfredi, A., Pari, C., Paziente, A., & Millepiedi, S. (2008). Conduct disorder in referred children and adolescents: Clinical and therapeutic issues. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 146–153, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2007.08.009.
- Mathias, C. W., Stanford, M. S., Marsh, D. M., Frick, P. J., Moeller, F. G., Swann, A. C., & Dougherty, D. M. (2007). Characterizing aggressive behavior with the Impulsive/Premeditated aggression scale among adolescents with conduct disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 151(3), 231–242, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2006.11.001.
- McAuliffe, M. D., Hubbard, J. A., Rubin, R. M., Morrow, M. T., & Dearing, K. F. (2006). Reactive and proactive aggression: Stability of constructs and relations to correlates. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 167(4), 365–382, http://dx.doi.org/10.3200/GNTP.167. 4.365-382.
- McDermott, B. E., Quanbeck, C. D., Busse, D., Yastro, K., & Scott, C. L. (2008). The accuracy of risk assessment instruments in the prediction of impulsive versus predatory aggression. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 26(6), 759–777, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bsl.842.
- McGirr, A., Paris, J., Lesage, A., Renaud, J., & Turecki, G. (2007). Risk factors for suicide completion in borderline personality disorder: A case-control study of cluster B comorbidity and impulsive aggression. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 68(5), 721–729.
- McKay, K. E., & Halperin, J. M. (2001). ADHD, aggression and antisocial behavior across the lifespan: Interactions with neurochemical and cognitive function. In J. Wasserstein, L. E. Wolf, & F. LeFever (Eds.), Adult attention deficit disorder: Brain mechanisms and life outcomes (pp. 84–96). New York, NY: New York Academy of Sciences.
- Meloy, J. R. (2005). Empirical basis and forensic application of affective and predatory violence. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 40, 539–547.
- Meltzer, H. Y., & Arora, R. C. (1988). Genetic control of serotonin uptake in blood platelets: A twin study. Psychiatry Research, 24(3), 263–269, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(88)90108-4.
- Merk, W., de Castro, B., Koops, W., & Matthys, W. (2005). The distinction between reactive and proactive aggression: Utility for theory, diagnosis and treatment? *The European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 2, 197–220, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 17405620444000300.
- Miller, J. D., & Lynam, D. R. (2006). Reactive and proactive aggression: Similarities and differences. Personality and Individual Differences, 41(8), 1469–1480, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.paid.2006.06.004.
- Millon, T. (1987). Millon Clinical Multiaxial Inventory–II. Minneapolis, MN: National Computer Systems.
- Moyer, K. (1976). The psychobiology of aggression. NY: Harper & Row.

MTA Cooperative Group (1999). A 14-month randomized clinical trial of treatment strategies for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56, 1073–1086.

- Muñoz et al., 2008 Örebro universitet, & Institutionen för beteende-, social-och rättsvetenskap. Muñoz, L. C., Frick, P. J., Kimonis, E. R., & Aucoin, K. J. (2008). Types of aggression, responsiveness to provocation, and callous-unemotional traits in detained adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 36(1), 15–28, http://dx. doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9137-0.
- Murray-Close, D., & Rellini, A. H. (2012). Cardiovascular reactivity and proactive and reactive relational aggression among women with and without a history of sexual abuse. *Biological Psychology*, 89(1), 54–62.
- Nas, C., de Castro, B., & Koops, W. (2005). Social information processing in delinquent adolescents. Psychology, Crime & Law, 11, 363–375.
- Nolan, K. A., Czobor, P., Roy, B. B., Platt, M. M., Shope, C. B., Citrome, L. L., et al. (2003). Characteristics of assaultive behavior among psychiatric patients. *Psychiatric Services*, 54, 1012–1016.
- Olweus, D. (1978). Aggression in the schools: Bullies and whipping boys. NY: Wiley.
- Patel, D., & Taylor, R. M. (2012). Institute of Medicine (U.S.). Forum on Global Violence Prevention, & National Research Council (U.S.). Social and economic costs of violence: Workshop summary (pp. 1–4). Washington DC: National Academies Press.
- Patkar, A. A., Gottheil, E., Berrettini, W. H., Hill, K. P., Thornton, C. C., & Weinstein, S. P. (2003). Relationship between platelet serotonin uptake sites and measures of impulsivity, aggression, and craving among African-American cocaine abusers. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 12(5), 432–447, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1521-0391.2003.tb00486.x.
- Patton, J. H., Stanford, M. S., & Barratt, E. S. (1995). Factor structure of the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 51, 768–774.
- Polman, H., Orobio de Castro, B., Koops, W., van Boxtel, H. W., & Merk, W. W. (2007). A meta-analysis of the distinction between reactive and proactive aggression in children and adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(4), 522–535, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9109-4.
- Price, J. M., & Dodge, K. A. (1989). Reactive and proactive aggression in childhood: Relations to peer status and social context dimensions. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 17(4), 455–471, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00915038.
- Pulkkinen, L. (1996). Proactive and reactive aggression in early adolescence as precursors to anti and prosocial behaviors in young adults. Aggressive Behavior, 22, 241–257.
- Raine, A., Dodge, K., Loeber, R., Gatzke-Kopp, L., Lynam, D., & Reynolds, C. (2006). The reactive–proactive aggression questionnaire: Differential correlates of reactive and proactive aggression in adolescent boys. *Aggressive Behavior*, 32(2), 159–171, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1002/ab.20115.
- Ramírez, J. M., & Andreu, J. M. (2006). Aggression, and some related psychological constructs (anger, hostility, and impulsivity) some comments from a research project. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 30(3), 276–291, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.04.015.
- Ross, J. M., & Babcock, J. C. (2009). Proactive and reactive violence among intimate partner violent men diagnosed with antisocial and borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Family Violence*, 24, 607–617.
- Scarpa, A., Tanaka, A., & Chiara Haden, S. (2008). Biosocial bases of reactive and proactive aggression: The roles of community violence exposure and heart rate. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 36(8), 969–988, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20276.
- Schippell, P. L, Vasey, M. W., Cravens-Brown, L. M., & Bretveld, R. A. (2003). Suppressed attention to rejection, ridicule, and failure cues: A unique correlate of reactive but not proactive aggression in youth. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 32(1), 40–55.
- Scott, J. P. (1972). Hostility and aggression. In B. Wolman (Ed.), Handbook of genetic psychology. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Seah, S. L., & Ang, R. P. (2008a). Differential correlates of reactive and proactive aggression in Asian adolescents: Relations to narcissism, anxiety, schizotypal traits, and peer relations. Aggressive Behavior, 54, 890–902.
- Seah, S. L., & Ang, R. P. (2008b). Differential correlates of reactive and proactive aggression in asian adolescents: Relations to narcissism, anxiety, schizotypal traits, and peer relations. Aggressive Behavior, 34(5), 553–562, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ab.20269.
- Seo, D., Patrick, C., & Kennealy, P. (2008). Role of serotonin and dopamine system interactions in the neurobioloy of impulsive aggression and its comorbidity with other clinical disorders. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 13(5), 383–395, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.avb.2008.06.003.
- Soloff, P. H., Lynch, K. G., Kelly, T. M., Malone, K. M., & Mann, J. J. (2000). Characteristics of suicide attempts of patients with major depressive episode and borderline personality disorder: A comparative study. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157(4), 601–608, http://dx.doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.157.4.601.
- Soloff, P., Meltzer, C., Becker, C., Greer, P., Kelly, T., & Constantine, D. (2003). Impulsivity and prefrontal hypometabolism in borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 123(3), 153–163, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4927(03)00064-7.

- Stanford, M. S., & Barrett, E. S. (2001). Procedures for the classification of aggressive/violent actis, manual. New Orleans, LA: University of New Orleans.
- Stafford, E., & Cornell, D. G. (2003). Psychopathy scores predict adolescent inpatient aggression. Assessment, 10(1), 102–112, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1073191102250341.Stanford, M. S. (unpublished manual). Procedures for the Classification of Aggression/Vi-
- olent Acts. Stanford, M. S., Anderson, N. E., Lake, S. L., & Baldridge, R. M. (2009). Pharmacologic treat-
- ment of impulsive aggression with antiepileptic drugs. *Current Treatment Options in Neurology*, 11(5), 383–390, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11940-009-0043-3.
- Stanford, M. S., Greve, K. W., & Gerstle, J. E. (1997). Neuropsychological correlates of selfreported impulsive aggression in a college sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 23(6), 961–965, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(97)00120-7.
- Stanford, M. S., Houston, R. J., & Baldridge, R. M. (2008). Comparison of impulsive and premeditated perpetrators of intimate partner violence. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 26, 709–722.
- Stanford, M. S., Houston, R. J., Mathias, C. W., Villemarette-Pittman, N. R., Helfritz, L. E., & Conklin, S. M. (2003). Characterizing aggressive behavior. Assessment, 10(2), 183–190, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1073191103010002009.
- Swanson, J. W., Swartz, M. S., Van Dorn, R. A., Volavka, J., Monahan, J., Stroup, T. S., & Lieberman, J. A. (2008). Comparison of antipsychotic medication effects on reducing violence in people with schizophrenia. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 193, 37–43.
- Swogger, M. T., Walsh, Z., Houston, R. J., Cashman-Brown, S., & Conner, K. R. (2010). Psychopathy and axis I psychiatric disorders among criminal offenders: Relationships to impulsive and proactive aggression. *Aggressive Behavior*, 36(1), 45–53, http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/ab.20330.
- Teten Tharp, A. L., Sharp, C., Stanford, M. S., Lake, S. L., Raine, A., & Kent, T. A. (2011). Correspondence of aggressive behavior classifications among young adults using the impulsive premeditated aggression scale and the reactive proactive questionnaire. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(2), 279–285, http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.10.003.
- Teten, A. L., Miller, L. A., Bailey, S. D., Dunn, N. J., & Kent, T. A. (2008). Empathic deficits and alexithymia in trauma-related impulsive aggression. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 26(6), 823–832, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bsl.843.
- Teten, A. L., Schumacher, J. A., Bailey, S. D., & Kent, T. A. (2009). Male-to-female sexual aggression among Iraq, Afghanistan, and Vietnam veterans: Co-occurring substance abuse and intimate partner aggression. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 22(4), 307–311, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jts.20422.
- Tweed, R. G., & Dutton, D. G. (1998). A comparison of impulsive and instrumental subgroups of batterers. Violence and Victims, 13, 217–230.
- Villemarette-Pittman, N. R., Stanford, M. S., & Greve, K. W. (2003). Language and executive function in self-reported impulsive aggression. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(8), 1533–1544, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00136-8.
- Vitaro, F., Brendgen, M., & Barker, E. D. (2006). Subtypes of aggressive behaviors: A developmentalerspective. International Journal of Behavioral Development, 30(1), 12–19.
- Vitaro, F., Barker, E. D., Boivin, M., Brendgen, M., & Tremblay, R. E. (2006). Do early difficult temperament and harsh parenting differentially predict reactive and proactive aggression? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 34(5), 681–691, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/s10802-006-9055-6.
- Vitaro, F., Brendgen, M., & Tremblay, R. E. (2002). Reactively and proactively aggressive children: Antecedent and subsequent characteristics. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 43, 495–505.
- Vitaro, F., Gendreau, P. L., Tremblay, R. E., & Oligny, P. (1998). Reactive and proactive aggression differentially predict later conduct problems. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry, 39, 377–385.

Vitiello, B., & Stoff, D. (1997). Subtypes of aggression and their relevance to child psychiatry. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 36, 307–315.

Volavka, J., & Citrome, L. (2008). Heterogeneity of violence in schizophrenia and implications for long-term treatment. *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, 62, 1237–1245.Walters, G. D. (2006). Proactive and reactive composite scales for the Psychological Inven-

tory of Criminal Thinking Styles (PICTS). Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 42, 23–36. Walters, G. D., Frederick, A. A., & Schlauch, C. (2007). Postdicting arrests for proactive and

- reactive aggression with the PICTS Proactive and Reactive Composite Scales. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 22, 1415–1430.
- Weinshenker, N. J., & Siegel, A. (2002). Bimodal classification of aggression: Affective defense and predatory attack. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 7, 237–250.
- White, B. A., Jarrett, M. A., & Ollendick, T. H. (2012). Self-regulation deficits explain the link between reactive aggression and internalizing and externalizing behavior problems in children. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s10862-012-9310-9.
- Woodworth, M., & Porter, S. (2002). In cold blood: Characteristics of criminal homicides as a function of psychopathy. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 111, 436–445.
- Xu, Y., Farver, J. A. M., & Zhang, Z. (2009). Temperament, harsh and indulgent parenting, and Chinese childrens' proactive and reactive aggression. *Child Development*, 80(1), 244.